MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. INTRODUCTION  

By way of this appeal, the Appellants POPE INVESTMENTS, LLC, POPE 

INVESTMENTS II, LLC and ANNUITY & LIFE REASSURANCE, LTD 

(hereinafter, “POPE”) seek the reversal of the district court’s Order granting 

summary judgment in favor of Respondent CHINA YIDA HOLDING CO. 

(hereinafter, “CHINA YIDA”), in addition to a reversal of the district court’s 

subsequent Order granting CHINA YIDA an award of $41,053.50 in attorneys 

fees.  POPE filed the Appellants’ Opening Brief on August 11, 2020. 

On December 9, 2020, following a short series of stipulated extensions of 

the filing deadline, CHINA YIDA filed its Answering Brief, disputing POPE’s 

factual and legal arguments in support of reversal, contending that the record in the 

district court supported judgment against POPE as a matter of law, and that the 

district court acted within its sound discretion in granting CHINA YIDA’s request 

for attorneys fees. 

CHINA YIDA’s arguments are without merit, and nothing contained in its 

Answering Brief detracts from the soundness of POPE’s arguments in support of 

reversal in the Opening Brief.  As set forth herein, CHINA YIDA’s arguments are 

inconsistent with both the factual record below and the appropriate legal analysis 

of the provisions of Chapter 92A of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  In addition, 
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POPE has already demonstrated that the district court erred in awarding attorneys 

fees, and nothing CHINA YIDA contends negates the district court’s abuse of 

discretion. 

By way of two stipulated extensions of the deadline for filing POPE’s Reply 

Brief, and a pending Unopposed Motion to Extend the deadline, POPE has 

requested that the Reply Brief be due on or before February 10, 2021.  

II. ARGUMENT 

A. CHINA YIDA’S ARGUMENTS TO THE CONTRARY 
NOTWITHSTANDING, THE DISTRICT COURT DID, IN FACT, 
ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST POPE 

CHINA YIDA successfully argued to the district court that because its 

shares of stock were “covered securities” within the meaning of the federal 

securities laws, Section 92A.390(1) of the Nevada Revised Statutes dictated that, 

under the facts and circumstances of this case, POPE did not legally have 

dissenters rights with respect to the merger transaction at issue.  Due no doubt to 

its desire to preserve the award of attorneys fees it received from the district court, 

CHINA YIDA characterizes POPE’s lack of entitlement to dissenters rights as 

being so obvious and clear cut (despite its own willingness to litigate the valuation 

of CHINA YIDA’s shares for more than two (2) years, at significant cost to the 

parties, before raising this argument with the district court) that summary judgment 

was predestined from the very moment the district court case was filed, ironically 
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by CHINA YIDA itself.  The factual record in this case and the appropriate 

application of the relevant statutory provisions to that record are anything but as 

clear cut and favorable to CHINA YIDA as it contends.  POPE applied the correct 

statutory and factual analysis in the Opening Brief in demonstrating the district 

court’s error in granting summary judgment, and nothing advanced by CHINA 

YIDA in opposition detracts from POPE’s position.  As noted further below, 

CHINA YIDA’s arguments are largely either incorrect, irrelevant or ineffective, 

and the present case must be returned to the district court for further proceedings to 

determine the fair value of CHINA YIDA stock. 

1. CHINA YIDA’s Arguments in the Answering Brief Distract From and 
Overcomplicate the Issues and Analysis Dispositive to the Present 
Appeal 

 

While the briefing in the present case included extensive citation to statutory 

and case authority, laced with both interpretation and policy analysis of Nevada’s 

corporate statutory framework, the questions presented to this Court for resolution 

are more direct and straightforward than one would gather from reading CHINA 

YIDA’s Answering Brief.  POPE stands by the arguments and analysis contained 

in the Opening Brief, and hereby “expressly” asserts that none of CHINA YIDA’s 

arguments in support of the summary judgment in the district court have a negative 

impact on the merits of POPE’s position.  POPE submits that the essence of the 

present case is a largely factual mistake made by the district court. 
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CHINA YIDA’s effort to sustain the premature termination of POPE’s quest 

for a fair value determination, while detailed in its legal research and selective 

attacks on POPE’s characterizations of the corporate maneuvering and scheming of 

CHINA YIDA and its two major controlling shareholders, cloud the record 

unnecessarily and distract from the central facts and questions.  All parties agree 

that CHINA YIDA’s stock was publicly traded on NASDAQ.  All parties agree 

that CHINA YIDA’s Board of Directors passed a resolution approving the merger 

that is at the heart of the case.  The parties essentially debate only whether that 

resolution is a sufficient instrument to remove the present case from the impact of 

Section 92A.390(1) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  Clearly, by its own language 

and that of the corporate decision it approves, it is.  (See Opening Brief, pages 6 

and 7) 

CHINA YIDA’s “analysis” of it’s own statements, communications and 

corporate plans and documents, whether intentionally or through 

misunderstanding, directs the Court’s focus away from the point POPE has been 

consistently making.  The “resolution” necessary to make the statutory “market 

out” provision inapplicable to POPE’s right to a fair value determination exists, 

and that resolution, by approving the Plan of Merger, also necessarily approves its 

terms, which include the representations by CHINA YIDA to its shareholders that 

dissenters rights were available to them.  CHINA YIDA’s attack on the resolution 
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is, in essence, an argument that the terms of the approved Plan of Merger (the 

subject of the resolution) must be ignored in construing what the resolution means.  

This proposition is untenable and makes sense only if one is attempting to restrict 

the meaning of the word “expressly” to obtain a litigation advantage or an unfair 

disposition of the case contrary to the spirit of the statutes governing the rights of 

dissenting shareholders. 

The error the district court committed in the proceedings below was to 

conclude that the resolution approving the merger was not “express” enough to 

satisfy the exception identified in Section 92A.390(1).  By reaching this 

conclusion, the district court ignored the clear fact that the resolution, by its very 

nature, incorporated by reference the Plan of Merger, which POPE has 

demonstrated amounts to an agreement and corporate document which provides 

POPE and other dissenting shareholders the right to a fair value determination in 

the district court, the “covered securities” nature of CHINA YIDA’s stock 

notwithstanding.  POPE is not attempting to rewrite Chapter 92A of the Nevada 

Revised Statutes, it is simply arguing that the district court with its overly 

restrictive understanding of “expressly” did not reach the correct factual 

determination.  Reversal is warranted.  
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2. CHINA YIDA’s Plan of Merger, as Incorporated Into the Resolution 
Approving the Merger Serves to Provide Dissenters Rights to its 
Shareholders 

 

The Plan of Merger has been extensively quoted by both sides in their 

respective Briefs.  CHINA YIDA emphasizes the verbiage which it contends 

serves only to persuade shareholders to seek legal advice as to their rights under 

the merger, after teasing them with numerous references and statements in the Plan 

of Merger and related communications referencing their dissenters’ rights to a fair 

value determination.  POPE has demonstrated how CHINA YIDA’s own language 

consistently refers to the shareholders’ dissenters rights, which unless designed to 

mislead the shareholders, has no other purpose or impact other than to explicitly 

grant such rights.  CHINA YIDA’s argument is, at best, that despite how confusing 

or contradictory were it’s discussions and representations in the Plan of Merger 

and related communications it was “clear” that the sum total of its pronouncements 

could not constitute the provision of dissenters’ rights to shareholders.  It is 

anything but “clear” that this CHINA YIDA representation is true.  

The crux of CHINA YIDA’s argument as to the existence of dissenters’ 

rights is that, even if the resolution of the board of directors is deemed to have 

expressly incorporated the terms of the Plan of Merger, that Plan does not provide 

anything more to shareholders than the advice to “go see a lawyer” if they want to 

know about dissenters’ rights.  All of the discussion of such rights by CHINA 
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YIDA in the Plan of Merger, “frequently asked questions” materials, and other 

communications to shareholders, are treated as irrelevant surplusage by CHINA 

YIDA in its Answering Brief.  This is not surprising, given the company’s intent to 

escape any accountability for the statements and impressions given to shareholders.  

Yet to the extent the representations contained in the Plan of Merger may be 

unclear, contradictory or confusing, CHINA YIDA, as the author of the Plan of 

Merger, must bear the responsibility and the consequences of sowing ambiguity 

and confusion.  This is especially true when the Plan of Merger explicitly states 

that the dissenting shares are to be cancelled and will cease to exist “in 

consideration for the right to receive fair value of such Dissenting Share”.  

(Volume 2, APP0268 - APP0269, Opening Brief, page 15). Whatever ambiguity 

may exist as to the meaning of the language of the Plan of Merger is construed 

against CHINA YIDA, and this clear representation that dissenters rights constitute 

“consideration” under the Plan of Merger cannot be ignored, and manifests 

CHINA YIDA’s obvious intention to grant such rights.   

Equally unhelpful to CHINA YIDA is its argument that dissenters’ rights are 

not available to any shareholder who has “lost” it’s rights to dissent from the 

merger.  Chapter 92A does, in fact, identify situations in which a shareholder can, 

through its own conduct, “lose” its dissenters’ rights.  But CHINA YIDA’s 

argument goes too far in equating the alleged lack of jurisdiction stemming from 
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Section 92A.300 with the “loss” of such rights contemplated by the statute and the 

references in the Plan of Merger.  (See Volume 2, APP0268 – APP0269)  CHINA 

YIDA argues that POPE never had dissenters rights because of the district court’s 

lack of jurisdiction under the “market out” exception.  It is axiomatic that one 

cannot “lose” what one never had.  CHINA YIDA’s contention that POPE lost its 

dissenters rights is without merit. 

3. CHINA YIDA’s Interpretation of the Plan of Merger and the Relevant 
Nevada Statutes Contradicts the Public Policy Which Protects Dissenting 
or Minority Shareholders 

 

As explained in POPE’s Opening Brief, the Nevada statutes addressing the 

rights of minority shareholders are to be construed so as to advance the interest of 

protecting the rights of those shareholders to receive fair value when they dissent 

from corporate actions such as those undertaken by CHINA YIDA in the present 

case.  CHINA YIDA’s restrictive definition of what qualifies as an express 

resolution for purposes of avoiding the application of the “market out” exception 

does not advance the objective of protecting dissenters rights, especially when 

applied to the facts of the present case.  CHINA YIDA’s Answering Brief contains 

no justification for a statutory interpretation of the word “expressly” which serves 

to deny its dissenting shareholders the right to a fair value determination under the 

circumstances of the present case.  As noted earlier herein and in the Opening 

Brief, CHINA YIDA’s representations and statements regarding dissenters rights 



9 
 

are so plentiful and strong that to fail to construe them as sufficient enough to 

satisfy the exception to the “market out” provision would encourage the misleading 

of shareholders as to their rights and be anything but favorable to the strong policy 

favoring fairness to minority shareholders.  CHINA YIDA’s interpretation and 

analysis, in the context of the present case, can be rejected on this basis alone.  

B. POPE’S FAILURE TO ACCEPT CHINA YIDA’S 
UNREASONABLE RULE 68 OFFER OF JUDGMENT WAS NOT 
AN UNREASONABLE ACT ON POPE’S PART, AND 
CONSEQUENTLY THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN 
AWARDING ATTORNEYS FEES 

While a district courts’ award of attorneys fees premised upon a party’s 

rejection of a valid offer of judgment made pursuant to Rule 68 of the Nevada 

Rules of Civil Procedure is evaluated on appeal under an abuse of discretion 

standard, the district court’s decision must always be evaluated in the specific 

factual context of the underlying litigation, without deference to any formulaic 

assessment beyond an individualistic application of the factors set forth in Beattie 

v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983) and Brunzell v. Golden 

State National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 124 P.2d. 530, 533 (1969).  Each attorneys 

fee determination is necessarily unique, and while consideration of other reported 

cases may be illustrative of approaches other courts have applied, it is seldom, if 

ever, controlling with respect to a new set of facts.  
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In the Opening Brief, POPE set forth the facts and considerations of record 

which demonstrated that the district court abused its discretion in punishing 

POPE’s eminently reasonable conduct with an award of attorneys fees.  Nothing 

set forth or argued in CHINA YIDA’s Answering Brief in support of the award is 

persuasive in overcoming the conclusion that an abuse of discretion occurred.  

1. The Statutory Framework of Chapter 92A is Relevant and Probative as to 
Whether an Award of Attorney’s Fees is Reasonable or Fair in the 
Absence of Vexatious or Bad Faith Conduct 

 

CHINA YIDA takes issue with POPE’s discussion of Section 92A.500 of 

the Nevada Revised Statutes and denies the manifest relevance of that provision to 

a district court’s evaluation of a request for attorneys fees in a statutory fair value 

case.  CHINA YIDA asserts that POPE is attempting to “incorporate sections 1 and 

2 of NRS 92A.500 into section 6 . . .” of Section 92A.500.  (Answering Brief, at 

41).  This contention misapprehends the point which POPE was making with 

respect to the language of Section 92A.500(2), which permits an award of fees 

against a dissenting shareholder when the court finds the dissenter “acted 

vexatiously or not in good faith”.  Nor is POPE incorporating a “vexatious or 

arbitrary standard into NRCP 68.”  (Answering Brief, at 41).  Since the context in 

which a request for attorney’s fees is made is always a relevant consideration, 

Section 92A.500(2) and the way attorneys fees requests are generally resolved in 

fair value litigation are highly relevant and informative as to how the district court 



11 
 

should exercise its discretion, even though the statutory framework also permits a 

party to make an offer of judgment pursuant to Rule 68.   

CHINA YIDA’s fear that POPE’s emphasis on Section 92A.500(2) 

somehow constitutes an improper effort to amend Rule 68 or to alter the Beattie 

factors is misplaced.  The Beattie factors and the language of Rule 68 are what 

they are.  Nevertheless, the statutory provisions regarding the award of costs or 

fees in dissenters’ rights fair value proceedings are certainly part of the relevant 

context in which to evaluate offers of judgment and their suitability, especially 

with respect to the reasonableness of such an offer and the reasonableness of a 

decision to refuse to accept an offer.  The statutory goal of Section 92A.500 was 

clearly in favor of having the corporation bear the expense of attorneys fees, except 

in situations involving especially vexatious or bad faith conduct by the dissenters.  

A district court must clearly take this goal into consideration when evaluating the 

context of an attorneys fee request, and in the present case consideration of this 

preference against an award of such fees in the typical dissenters’ rights case 

weighs against the district court’s decision.   

2. China Yida’s Arguments Regarding the Reasonableness of its Offer of 
Judgment and the Unreasonableness of POPE’s Rejection of the Offer Do 
Not Properly Take Into Consideration the Facts and Circumstances in the 
Present Case 

CHINA YIDA describes POPE’s factual recitations and arguments 

concerning its decision to reject the Offer of Judgment as rationalizations, casting 
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aspersions on POPE’s observation that it was CHINA YIDA which filed the 

litigation in the district court, a fact which weighs heavily against any conclusion 

that POPE acted in bad faith, having not commenced the litigation in question.  

CHINA YIDA argues that it was required to file the Petition based upon POPE’s 

initiation of the “dissenter’s rights process”.  Such an excuse directly contradicts 

CHINA YIDA’s persistent contention that dissenters’ rights did not even exist in 

connection with the merger at issue, a situation which CHINA YIDA has even 

gone so far as to characterize as one in which the district court did not have 

jurisdiction to hear and adjudicate the Petition.  Were the “jurisdictional” issue as 

obvious and clear cut as CHINA YIDA now contends, surely it would not be 

required to file a case over which the district court did not have jurisdiction.  It 

could simply have responded to POPE’s invocation of dissenters rights by pointing 

out the lack of such rights and declining to commence a court action.  The next 

move would presumably been up to POPE.  In the very case authorities it cites in 

the Answering Brief, CHINA YIDA references American Ethanol, Inc. v. 

Cordillera Fund, 127 Nev. 147, 252 P.3d 663 (2011) and Smith v. Kisorin USA, 

Inc., 127 Nev. 444, 252 P.3d 636 (2011), cases in which the corporation denied the 

existence of dissenters rights and the dissenting shareholders commenced litigation 

to contest that position.  CHINA YIDA was not forced to commence litigation and 
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engage in two and one-half years of motions and discovery, all the while allegedly 

knowing the district court could not properly hear the case.   

CHINA YIDA’s actions in resorting to the courts is, in fact, a clear 

demonstration that the “market out” issue was not so clear cut and definitive as 

now described by CHINA YIDA.  This reinforces the reasonableness of POPE’s 

rejection of the Offer of Judgment in a situation in which even CHINA YIDA 

lacked confidence in the argument that the “market out” provision barred the 

proceedings below.  CHINA YIDA’s wholehearted engagement in the district 

court litigation for two and one-half years also erodes the persuasiveness of its 

argument that offering a few pennies more per share of stock was a fair and 

reasonable offer to advance settlement in light of the factual and legal issues in the 

case.  If CHINA YIDA believed the issues to be contestable, and uncertain enough 

to justify expensive, contentious litigation, it could not have expected POPE to 

settle for so little.  

CHINA YIDA misapprehends POPE’s argument with respect to the 

“timing” of the Offer of Judgment.  The Answering Brief analyzes the timing of 

the Offer with reference to the Court’s opinion in La Forge v. State, University & 

Community College System of Nevada, 116 Nev. 415, 997 P.2d. 130 (2000).  

CHINA YIDA vigorously denies that any improper calculation or gamesmanship 

was involved in the timing of the Offer of Judgment, emphasizing that both parties 
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had equal access to the relevant law and facts underpinning the statutory argument 

for summary judgment.  But POPE is not so much concerned with whether CHINA 

YIDA was engaged in “hiding the ball”, so to speak, but instead is emphasizing 

that CHINA YIDA wasn’t even aware that it had the ball.  The timing of CHINA 

YIDA’s Offer of Judgment is indicative of its lack of confidence in (or perhaps its 

initial unawareness of) the argument upon which it ultimately obtained summary 

judgment.  If the proponents of an argument are uncertain of its persuasiveness, it 

stands to reason that the other party would be acting reasonably in having its own 

doubts about the proponent’s position and insisting upon a ruling from the district 

court, as did POPE.  

As CHINA YIDA correctly notes in the Answering Brief, the parties’ 

calculations as to the fair value of CHINA YIDA’s stock differed significantly.  

CHINA YIDA attributes this large difference between respective valuations to the 

alleged unreasonableness of POPE’s expert opinion, while emphasizing the 

supposed validity of its own experts’ significantly lower valuations.  It is hardly 

surprising, given the different perspectives of the parties and the adversarial 

relationship between them that the valuations differed.  Each sides’ expert

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