IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

POPE INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company; POPE INVESTMENTS II, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company; and ANNUITY & LIFE REASSURANCE, LTD., an Unknown Limited Company,

Appellants

VS.

CHINA YIDA HOLDING, CO., A Nevada Corporation,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nos.: 798090802020 05:01 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court State of Nevada, Clark County The Honorable Nancy Alf District Court Case No. A-16-746732-P

CHINA YIDA HOLDING, CO.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

2. <u>The Amended Merger Agreement Was Not An Express</u> <u>Resolution By CYH's Board, Did Not Expressly Provide</u> <u>Shareholders With The Right To Dissent, And Did Not Expressly</u> <u>Waive The Market-Out Exception</u>.

i. NRS 92A.390(1) Requires an Express Resolution from a Board of Directors Providing Shareholders with Dissenter's Rights.

NRS 92A.390(1) states that the market-out exception deprives shareholders of the right to dissent from corporate action, "unless... the *resolution* of the board of directors approving the plan of merger, conversion or exchange *expressly* provide otherwise." (emphasis added). Pope attempts to equate the Amended Merger Agreement with a resolution by the Board expressly providing them with a right to dissent regardless of the market-out exception contained in NRS 92A.390(1)(a). (Brief at 14-15.) But CYH's Board did not vote at the Special Shareholders Meeting. Further, the Amended Merger Agreement is not a resolution expressly providing dissenter's rights. In fact, the Amended Merger Agreement does not even come close to expressly providing for dissenter's rights and/or waiving the provisions of NRS 92A.390(1)(a).

"In interpreting a statute, [courts] begin with its plain meaning and consider the statute as a whole, awarding meaning to each word, phrase, and provision, while striving to avoid interpretations that render any words superfluous or meaningless." *Knickmeyer v. State ex. rel. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.*, 408 P.3d 161,

166 (Nev. Ct. App. 2017) (citing *Haney v. State*, 124 Nev. 408, 411-12, 185 P.3d 350, 353 (2008)). While Pope argues that courts are to liberally construe dissenting rights statutes, the "canon of statutory construction providing for a liberal construction of a certain type of statute is not a license for the court to rewrite the statute in a manner that will defeat its overall purpose." *DeSimone v. Coatesville Area Sch. Dist.*, 248 F. Supp. 2d 387, 391 (E.D. Pa. 2003); *see also Outboard Marine Corp., v. Sup. Ct.*, 124 Cal. Rptr. 852 (Ct. App. 1975) ("A liberal construction does not permit [a court] to disregard or enlarge the plain provisions of the statute, nor does it go beyond the meaning of the words used when they are clear and unambiguous.") (citation omitted)).

A shareholder's right to dissent is governed solely by statute. *Am. Ethanol, Inc. v. Cordillera Fund, L.P.*, 127 Nev. 147, 151, 252 P.3d 663, 667 (2011) ("NRS 92A.300-.500 governs the rights of stockholders who dissent from certain corporate actions, such as mergers."); *see also Ala. By-Prods. Corp. v. Cede & Co. ex rel. Shearson Lehman Bros.*, 657 A.2d 254, 258 (Del. 1995) (stating that the appraisal remedy is entirely a creature of statute); *Heilbrunn v. Sun Chem. Corp.*, 150 A.2d 755, 758 (Del.1959) ("[T]he appraisal right is given to the stockholder in compensation for his former right at common law to prevent a merger.")

The plain language of NRS 92A.390(1) requires a resolution from a corporation's board of directors expressly and unequivocally waiving the

entitlements of NRS 92A.390(1)(a) and expressly providing its shareholders with dissenter's rights. The second clause of NRS 92A.390(1) has three requirements: 1) that the board of directors pass a resolution concerning the issue of dissenter's rights; 2) that the resolution expressly waive the corporation's rights provided by NRS 92A.390(1)(a)-(c); and 3) that the resolution expressly provide shareholders dissenter's rights. None of the three required conditions have been established in the record by Pope.

ii. *CYH's Board Did Not Vote, Nor Did They Participate, at the June 28, 2016 Special Meeting of the Shareholders.*

Pope's incorrect argument that it had the right to dissent from the Merger rests on two faulty propositions: first, that CYH's Board approved the Amended Merger Agreement at the June 28, 2016 Special Shareholders meeting (Brief at 17); and second, that the Amended Merger Agreement "expressly" provided shareholders with the right to dissent (*id.* at 14). Both propositions are untrue.

CYH's Board did not vote, approve, or participate during the June 28, 2016 Special Shareholder Meeting. As discussed above, the Special Shareholder Meeting was held just for CYH shareholders. The Amended Merger Agreement called for a special meeting of CYH's shareholders for a vote on the Merger. The Special Shareholders Meeting Minutes list the shareholders as present and quorum was called to determine whether enough shareholders were present. (Vol. 2, App. 0383.) Consistent with the description in the Amended Merger Agreement (Vol. 1, App. 0171-74), the only vote called for was the shareholder's vote on the Amended Merger Agreement. (Vol. 2, App. 0383; *see also* Vol. 1, App. 0188 (explaining that all shareholders of record are entitled to vote at the special meeting); Vol. 1, App. 0224 ("[O]nly holders of record of [CYH] Common Stock on the record date are entitled to vote at the special meeting.")). Importantly, CYH's Board is listed as in attendance at the Meeting, but did not vote during the Meeting. Only the shareholders voted at the meeting.

In order to restore dissenter's rights pursuant to NRS 92A.390(1), Pope must show that despite the market-out exception, CYH's Board passed a resolution that expressly granted its shareholders the right to dissent. Pope relies solely on the June 28, 2016 Special Shareholders Meeting, arguing that after the shareholders approved the Amended Merger Agreement, CYH's Board "proceeded to authorized, approve and adopt the Plan of Merger.... The Plan of Merger was approved and adopted by the resolution of" CYH's Board. (Brief at 17.) Pope's attempt to equate the approval and adoption of the Plan of Merger by the Board after it was approved by the shareholders – with a resolution by the Board expressly providing its shareholders with dissenter's rights is misplaced. Not only is the resolution approving and adopting the Plan of Merger silent about dissenter's rights, but CYH's Board did not vote or participate at the shareholder's June 28, 2016 Meeting. (Vol. 2, App. 0383.) As testified to by Mr. Chen, CYH's Board

never passed a resolution expressly providing its shareholders with the right to dissent. (Vol. 1, App. 0053.) And Pope has never pointed to another resolution passed by CYH's Board that discusses dissenter's rights. Accordingly, the District Court did not err in ruling that CYH's Board did not expressly provide its shareholders with dissenter's rights or that CYH waived the market out exception. (Vol. 3, App. 0575.) Accordingly, Pope remained statutorily barred from pursuing dissenter's rights.

iii. The Amended Merger Agreement Does Not Qualify as a Resolution Providing Shareholders with the Right to Dissent.

Despite Pope failing to provide a resolution restoring the right to dissent, Pope claims that CYH's Amended Merger Agreement restored or retroactively granted the right to dissent. (Brief at 17, 18-20.) The District Court rejected this argument, relying on the plain language of NRS 92A.390 that the Amended Merger Agreement does not constitute a resolution by the Board. (Vol. 3, App. 576.) Pope's argument also conflicts with NRS 92A.390(1). As noted above, the plain language of NRS 92A.390(1) and its use of "expressly" means that the board of directors must pass a resolution that clearly and unmistakably provides dissenter's rights to its shareholders despite the shareholder's being precluded from doing so under the market-out exception. Black's Law Dictionary defines express to mean "[c]learly and unmistakably communicated; stated with directness and clarity." *Express*, Blacks' Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). Attempting to equate provisions from the Amended Merger Agreement, that contains over 80 sections, with a resolution by the Board that clearly and unmistakably grants its shareholders the right to dissent is absurd. In fact, the provisions in the Amended Merger Agreement regarding dissenter's rights are anything but a clear and unmistakable waiver of the market-out exception and grant of dissenter's rights to its shareholders. The reality is that CYH's Board never approved a resolution expressly (clearly and unmistakably) providing dissenter's rights. (Vol. 1, App. 0053; Vol. 2, App. 0383.) Thus, Pope's arguments that the Amended Merger Agreement provided dissenter's rights is legally incorrect.

Additionally, NRS 92A.390(1)'s use of the term "resolution" unequivocally means that a company's plan of merger cannot be used as the mechanism for providing dissenter's rights to shareholders when they would have none. NRS 92A.100 provides a definition and requirements for a plan of merger. "If the Legislature has independently defined any word or phrase contained within a statute, [courts] must apply that definition wherever the Legislature intended it to apply because '[a] statute's express definition of a term controls the construction of that term no matter where the term appears in the statute." *Knickmeyer*, 408 P.3d at 166 (quoting *Williams v. Clark Cnty. Dist. Attorney*, 118 Nev. 473, 485, 50 P.3d 536, 544 (2002)). The Legislature could have said that a board of directors can provide for dissenter's rights in its plan of merger or by a resolution; however, it did not. Instead, it used only the term "resolution." Additionally, "resolution" is not defined to include the term "plan of merger." *See* NRS 92A.100. The term "resolution" is defined by Black's Law Dictionary to mean "a main motion that formally expresses the sense, will, or action of a deliberative assembly." *Resolution*, Blacks' Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). The plain language of NRS 92A.390(1) requires a board of directors to vote on and pass a resolution concerning only the granting of dissenter's rights. A plan of merger, on its own, cannot provide dissenter's rights.

Pope also claims that CYH's Proxy Statement and Notice of Meeting given to shareholders provided for dissenter's rights. Pope, however, does not claim that CYH's Board passed the Proxy Statement via a resolution. Because CYH's Board did not pass a resolution dedicated to the issue of granting dissenter's rights, Pope has no right to a determination of fair value.

Pope further argues that it is inequitable to permit a corporation to represent that its shareholders may have the right to dissent in its merger plan, only for the corporation to later claim that the market-out exception bars the right to dissent. Pope creates a hypothetical to support its position that the District Court and CYH's construction of NRS 92A.390(1) is incorrect. In the hypothetical, Pope offers that a corporation would be able to create a plan of merger "with dissenter's rights an essential component of its terms, mislead shareholders about the

availability of those rights, and actually approve a merger which included those rights in the merger plan, yet escape responsibly of litigating those rights." (Brief at 19.)

First, as discussed below, CYH never passed a resolution or provided in any documents, including the Amended Merger Agreement, that shareholders would be provided the right to dissent despite the market-out exception. Second, and more importantly, Pope's hypothetical is contrary to Nevada law as a shareholder cannot vote for a plan of merger and then exercise the right to dissent. NRS

92A.420(1)(b) states:

[i]f a proposed corporate action creating dissenter's rights is submitted to a vote at a stockholders' meeting, a stockholder who wishes to assert dissenter's rights with respect to any class or series of shares:...

(b) Must not vote, or cause or permit to be voted, any of his or her shares of such class or series in favor of the proposed action.

Accordingly, Pope's argument that a shareholder may be duped into approving a plan of merger based on the promise of dissenter's rights is not possible as a shareholder cannot vote for a plan of merger and dissent from the same merger.

iv. Pope's Attempt to Shift the Burden is Contrary to NRS 92A.390(1).

Pope incorrectly seeks to shift the burden onto CYH that it must affirmatively state that no dissenter's rights are available. Pope argues, "[n]owhere in the Plan of Merger or the summary regarding that Plan does CHINA YIDA state that section 92A.390 deprives shareholders of..." the right to dissent. (Brief at 20.) Pope's argument to shift the burden to CYH to affirmatively state that no right to dissent exists both conflicts with the statutory language and with the record.

As has been discussed above, NRS 92A.390 provides that no right to dissent exists from a corporate action when the corporation's shares are a covered security, "*unless*" a resolution by the board of directors provides otherwise. NRS 92A.390(1)(a). Reviewing NRS 92A.390(1) as a whole, the Legislature provided that no right to dissent exists if one of the three conditions are met, and then sought to restore the right *only if* the board of directors expressly passed a resolution restoring such rights.

Construing NRS 92A.390 as drafted by the Legislature, NRS 92A.390(1) creates a presumption, that no right to dissent exists, and then provides an exception, "unless... the resolution of the board of directors approving the plan of merger... expressly provide otherwise." As used in NRS 92A.390(1), the term "unless" is used to create an exception only if a condition is met, i.e., the right to dissent does not exist, unless the board passes a resolution providing otherwise. *See generally, Walton v. People*, 451 P.3d 1212, 1216 (Colo. 2019) (holding that statute "creates exceptions to this presumption by use of the word 'unless.'"); *Ugrin v. Town of Cheshire*, 54 A.3d 532, 544 (Conn. 2012) (construing the word "unless" as providing for exceptions to the rule described in statute); *People v.*

Perkins, 703 N.W.2d 448, 460 (Mich. 2005) ("By using the term 'unless,' it demonstrated its intent to create an exception. 'Unless' is an exclusionary term."). Pope's reading of the statute seeks to flip it on its head, requiring a board to invoke the market-out exception via a resolution if the subject shares are a covered security. Such a reading violates the plain terms of the statute and renders "unless" superfluous. CYH is not required to expressly invoke the market-out exception, and Pope's attempt to require otherwise is incorrect.

Pope, as the party seeking to restore dissenter's rights, has the burden to establish that CYH's Board passed a resolution expressly restoring the right to dissent. Pope failed to meet this burden both in the District Court and before this Court. CYH's Board never passed a resolution restoring dissenter's rights and no representation to the shareholders restored the right to dissent.

In an extension of its burden shifting argument, Pope argues that the District Court did not examine whether CYH intended to give its shareholders the right to dissent and the supposed "logical" inferences associated with the Board's actions.⁷

⁷ While Pope argues that remand is proper to further develop the factual record before the District Court to support its arguments, Pope did not request or comply with NRCP 56(d) in requesting additional discovery to oppose the motion for summary judgment. Pope had the opportunity to conduct discovery related to all aspects of the Merger and in fact filed its opposition believing, incorrectly, that it created an issue of fact. It is improper for Pope to argue before this Court that it is entitled to additional discovery when it failed to make the argument below. *See Dermody v. City of Reno*, 113 Nev. 207, 211, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997)

(Brief at 19-20.) In fact, the District Court did not examine CYH's Board's intent, because such intent is irrelevant NRS 92A.390(1). The only relevant question after a court determines that the market-out exception applies is whether the board of directors either did or did not pass a resolution restoring dissenter's rights. The record establishes that CYH's Board <u>did not</u> pass a resolution restoring dissenter's rights. (Vol. 1, App. 0053.) Thus, the District Court completed its analysis under NRS 92A.390(1) upon such a finding and there is no need to remand for further factual development.⁸

v. No Resolution or Representation From CYH's Board Expressly Provided that Shareholders had the Statutory Right to Dissent from the Merger.

Finally, even if a plan of merger approved by the board at the shareholders meeting could constitute a "resolution" as Pope claims, Pope's arguments still fail.

^{(&}quot;Arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this [C]ourt.") (citations omitted); *see also Avila v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 651 F.2d 658, 660 (9th Cir. 1981) (explaining that a party opposing summary judgment claiming that he did not have sufficient time to present opposition "normally cannot be successfully made for the first time on appeal").

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